#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

STATE OF NEVADA, ex rel. its DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTIONS.

Case No. 77704

Electronically Filed Jun 19 2019 08:46 a.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

Appellant,

District Court No. 18 OC 00150 1B

v.

PATRICIA DEROSA,

Respondent.

Appeal from Order Dismissing Petition for Judicial Review

First Judicial District Court

#### APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

#### STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

This appeal is from a final order entered by the First Judicial District Court of Carson City, Nevada, dismissing Appellant's Petition for Judicial Review with prejudice. This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to NRAP 3A(b)(1) and NRS 233B.150. The district court's Order Granting Motion to Dismiss was entered on November 21, 2018. The Notice of Entry of Order was served on November 27, 2018. The Notice of Appeal was timely filed on December 17, 2018.

#### **ROUTING STATEMENT**

This case is presumptively assigned to the Court of Appeals under NRAP 17(b)(9) as it relates to an administrative agency appeal not involving tax, water, or public utilities commission determinations. However, the principle issue in this case is an issue of first impression with statewide public importance that the Supreme Court should retain.

The principle issue in this case is whether a petition for judicial review must be personally served in accordance with NRCP 4.2(a),<sup>1</sup> or whether service by any means that satisfies NRCP 5(b) is sufficient to provide adequate notice of a petition for judicial review under the Administrative Procedure Act (hereinafter APA). NRS

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The relevant rule is now found at NRCP 4.2(a); however, Appellant will refer to the rule as NRCP 4(d)(6) throughout this brief to maintain consistency with the district court's order and all previous filings with this Court.

233B.130(2)(c) requires a private party seeking judicial review under the APA to serve the parties, the Attorney General, and the head of the named administrative agency. However, NRS 233B.130 does not provide guidance on the required method of service or whom to serve when the government seeks judicial review under the APA and the opposing party has been represented by counsel throughout the administrative proceedings.

As the rule governing service of petitions for judicial review involves an issue of statewide public importance, the Nevada Supreme Court should retain this case pursuant to NRAP 17(a)(12). Additionally, Appellant requests that the Court decide the case by published opinion pursuant to NRAP 36(c)(1)(A) and (C).

#### STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED

- 1. Whether the district court erred in dismissing NDOC's Petition for Judicial Review with prejudice for failure to personally serve the petition in accordance with NRCP 4(d)(6).
- 2. Whether the district court abused its discretion in refusing to grant an extension of time to personally serve the Respondent.

#### STATEMENT OF CASE

This appeal involves the district court's improper dismissal of Appellant's Petition for Judicial Review for failure to personally serve Respondent, Patricia DeRosa (hereinafter DeRosa) in accordance with NRCP 4(d)(6) and its refusal to

grant an extension of time for service. The district court's order is in conflict with the plain language of relevant legal authority and Nevada precedent on statutory construction, even assuming NRS 233B.130 is ambiguous. Furthermore, even assuming the district court correctly concluded that the APA requires personal service, the district court abused its discretion in denying the request for additional time to effectuate proper service.

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

Effective March 14, 2018, the Nevada Department of Corrections (hereinafter NDOC) dismissed Respondent Patricia DeRosa from her position as a Program Officer I for serious misconduct. JA 32, 35. DeRosa requested a hearing regarding her dismissal to the Department of Administration Personnel Commission hearing officer in accordance with the provisions set forth in Chapter 284 of the Nevada Revised Statutes and Nevada Administrative Code. JA 35. Throughout the administrative proceeding, attorney Thomas J. Donaldson, Esq., represented DeRosa. JA 7, 80. On May 23, 2018, the hearing officer rendered a decision reversing DeRosa's dismissal despite finding that DeRosa had committed violations of agency regulations for which dismissal is the recommended level of discipline. JA 7-18. In her decision, the hearing officer recommended imposition of "any disciplinary penalty [NDOC] chooses except for dismissal." JA 17.

///

In accordance with the hearing officer's Decision, NDOC reinstated DeRosa and then demoted her, effective June 11, 2018. JA 82. DeRosa requested a hearing regarding her demotion on June 18, 2018. JA 82. Her request for hearing indicated that Thomas Donaldson, Esq. (hereinafter "counsel" or "counsel of record") continued to represent her in the matter. JA 82-83.

On June 20, 2018, two days after receiving the request for hearing indicating that DeRosa continued to be represented by counsel, NDOC timely sought judicial review of the hearing officer's May 23, 2018 reversal decision and properly served NDOC's Petition for Judicial Review by first class mail to DeRosa's counsel of record in accordance with NRS 233B.130(5), NRCP 5(b), and Rule 4.2 of the Nevada Rules of Professional Conduct.<sup>2</sup> JA 1-4.

On June 27, 2018, DeRosa filed her Notice of Intent to Participate in Judicial Review Proceedings. JA 19-21.

On August 29, 2018, DeRosa stipulated, through counsel, to an extension of time for NDOC to file its Opening Brief. JA 22-24. On September 21, 2018, NDOC filed its Opening Brief. JA 25-52. Three judicial days before DeRosa's Answering Brief was due, she filed, again through counsel, her motion to dismiss. JA 53-67.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> In representing a client, a lawyer shall not communicate about the subject of the representation with a person the lawyer knows to be represented by another lawyer in the matter, unless the lawyer has the consent of the other lawyer or is authorized to do so by law or a court order.

Although DeRosa had been properly served with NDOC's Petition, out of an abundance of caution, NDOC served another copy of its Petition, along with its Opening Brief, by certified mail on October 19, 2018 to DeRosa at the address she provided on both of her requests for hearing. JA 85-87. DeRosa signed for delivery on October 30, 2018. JA 88.

The district court dismissed NDOC's Petition for Judicial Review with prejudice on November 21, 2018, finding that NRS 233B.130(5) and NRCP 81 require that a petition for judicial review be personally served in accordance with NRCP 4(d)(6). JA 96-99. In spite of the fact that DeRosa knew of the judicial review proceeding and was actively participating in the case, the district court denied NDOC's request for an extension of time to serve DeRosa, finding that there was no good cause shown "as to why service was not properly completed within the forty-five (45) days required." *Id*.

DeRosa served a Notice of Entry of Order on November 27, 2019. JA 100-102.

NDOC timely filed its Notice of Appeal on December 14, 2019. JA 108-111.

#### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

The district court clearly erred in dismissing NDOC's Petition for Judicial Review with prejudice for failure to personally serve the petition in accordance with NRCP 4(d)(6). NRCP 4(d)(6) pertains to service of a complaint and summons.

NRS 233B.130(5) does not require personal service of a petition for judicial review. There is no legal precedent holding that NRCP 4's service of process requirements apply to petitions for judicial review. NRS 233B.130 does not indicate that it requires service under NRCP 4, and NRCP 4 does not indicate that it applies to a petition for judicial review. In the absence of a clear legislative directive that personal service under NRCP 4 is required, a plain reading of relevant statutes and rules countenances application of the more liberal service requirements of NRCP 5(b) to service of petitions for judicial review. Relevant legislative history, reason, and concerns of public policy also support Appellant's position. As a result, the district court erroneously dismissed, with prejudice, the petition that Appellant timely served by mail.

Furthermore, even assuming service by mail was inadequate, the district court abused its discretion in denying NDOC's request for an extension of time to properly serve the Respondent. NDOC relied in good faith upon the provisions of NRS 233B.130(5), NRCP 5(b)(1) and (2), Rule 4.2 of the Nevada Rules of Professional Conduct, and unpublished orders of the Nevada Supreme Court in diligently serving Respondent's counsel of record by mail within 45 days of filing its Petition for Judicial Review. The district court should have allowed NDOC additional time to personally serve the Respondent, who was clearly aware of the petition for judicial review and was actively participating in the case.

This Court should reverse the district court's order dismissing the Petition for Judicial Review and remand this case for judicial review of the hearing officer's erroneous decision.

#### **ARGUMENT**

#### A. Standard of Review

"The issue in this case is one of statutory construction, which is a question of law, and is reviewed *de novo*, without deference to the district court's conclusions." *Southern Nevada Homebuilders Association v. Clark County*, 121 Nev. 446, 449, 117 P.3d 171, 173 (2005) Federal courts review a dismissal for insufficient service of process under a *de novo* standard for legal questions, while applying a clear error standard to findings of fact. *Albra v. Advan, Inc.*, 490 F.3d 826, 829 (11th Cir.2007) (citing *Prewitt Enterprises., Inc. v. Org. of Petroleum Exporting Countries*, 353 F.3d 916, 920 (11th Cir.2003). This Court should follow suit and apply a *de novo* standard of review to the legal questions presented in this case.

B. The Plain Language of Relevant Statutes and Rules, Legislative History, and Public Policy Favor Application of NRCP 5(b) to Petitions for Judicial Review.

This Court gives statutes "their plain meaning unless this violates the spirit of the act." *McKay v. Board of Supervisors of Carson City*, 102 Nev. 644, 648, 730 P.2d 438, 441 (1986). "Where a statute is clear on its face, a court may not go beyond the language of the statute in determining the legislature's intent." *Id.* "[I]t

is the duty of [courts], when possible, to interpret provisions within a common statutory scheme 'harmoniously with one another in accordance with the general purpose of those statutes' and to avoid unreasonable or absurd results, thereby giving effect to the Legislature's intent." *Southern Nev. Homebuilder's Ass'n*, 121 Nev. 446, 449, 117 P.3d 171, 173. Where the meaning of a statute is not clear on its face, courts are to determine legislative "intent by evaluating the legislative history and construing the statute in a manner that conforms to reason and public policy." *Great Basin Water Network v. State Engineer*, 126 Nev. 187, 196, 234 P.3d 912, 918 (2010).

Without citing any relevant, supporting authority, DeRosa argued in her Motion to Dismiss that NRS 233B.130 required NDOC to personally serve her with its Petition for Judicial Review in this matter in accordance with NRCP 4(d)(6), *i.e.*, in the same manner that a complaint and summons must be served. In contrast, the text of relevant legal authority, supporting legislative history, reason, and public policy countenance application of the more liberal service standard of NRCP 5(b), which includes service by mail, for purposes of serving a petition for judicial review.

# 1. The plain language of NRS 233B.130 does not support a requirement for personal service.

Where the Legislature omits specific language from a statute, courts presume the Legislature did so intentionally. *See Diamond v, Swick*, 117 Nev. 671, 676, 28 P.2d 1087, 1090 (2001) (noting that the business of Nevada's courts "does not

include 'fill[ing] in alleged legislative omissions based on conjecture as to what the legislature would or should have done."); see also, Department of Taxation v. Daimler Chrysler Services North America, LLC, 121 Nev. 541, 548, 119 P.3d 135, 139 (2005) ("[O]missions of subject matters from statutory provisions are presumed to have been intentional."); Galloway v. Truesdell, 83 Nev. 13, 26, 422 P.2d 237, 246 (1967); and 2A Norman J. Singer & J.D. Shambie Singer, Statutes & Statutory Construction § 47:23 (7th ed. 2014) ("The maxim expressio unius est exclusio alterius . . . instructs that, where a statute designates a form of conduct, the manner of its performance and operation, and the persons and things to which it refers, courts should infer that all omissions were intentional exclusions."). The absence of a specific legislative directive in NRS 233B.130 that a petition for judicial review must be served in the same manner as a summons and complaint demonstrates that the APA does not require personal service of the petition.

A petition for judicial review is not a complaint. A complaint commences a civil action. NRCP 3. A petition for judicial review, on the other hand, results in the continuation of existing legal proceedings by invoking the jurisdiction of Nevada's district courts established by the APA. "Courts have no inherent appellate jurisdiction over official acts of administrative agencies except where the legislature has made some statutory provision for judicial review." *Crane v. Continental Telephone*, 105 Nev. 399, 401, 775 P.2d 705, 706 (1989).

NRS 284.390 sets forth the statutory provision for judicial review of a State personnel hearing officer's decision. It requires the employee (i.e., aggrieved party) to file a petition for judicial review in accordance with the provisions of chapter 233B of NRS. *See* NRS 284.390(9). Under the provisions of chapter 233B of NRS, judicial review of a hearing officer's decision is commenced upon the filing of a petition for judicial review within 30 days after service of the hearing officer's decision. NRS 233B.130(2)(d). Nothing within NRS 233B.130 envisions the initiation of judicial review by the filing of a complaint, to which Nevada's service of process requirements would apply under NRCP 4.

Further, while NRS 233B.130(5) requires that a petition for judicial review be "served," the statute makes no reference to personal service, service of process, or NRCP 4. However, the Legislature knows how to mandate such service when that is its intent. *See*, *e.g.*, NRS 34.080 (requiring writ of certiorari "to be served in the same manner as a summons in a civil action, except when otherwise expressly directed by the court or judge issuing the writ"); NRS 34.280(1) (requiring same for writ of mandamus). So, the omission of the term "personal," a reference to NRCP 4, or language similar to that appearing in statutes like NRS 34.080 and NRS 34.280(1) from the text of NRS 233B.130(5) creates the presumption that the Legislature did not intend to require personal service or service in accordance with NRCP 4(d)(6).

If the Legislature had intended to require petitions for judicial review to be served under NRCP 4(a)(6), it would have indicated as such in NRS 233B.130(5), just as it set forth the requirement in NRS 233B.133(5) that briefs be in the form provided for appellate briefs in NRAP 28. But it did not. Thus, NRCP 4(a)(6) does not control service of a petition for judicial review; if the Nevada Rules of Civil Procedure apply in this context, the plain text of the relevant statutes and rules demonstrates that the requirements for service of other pleadings and papers under NRCP 5(b) should control. *See* NRCP 81(a) ("These rules do not govern procedure and practice in any special statutory proceeding insofar as they are inconsistent or in conflict with the procedure and practice provided by the applicable statute.")

## 2. Legislative history supports Appellant's position.

Even assuming the existence of an ambiguity in which rule for service should control, relevant legislative history does not indicate the intent that NRS 233B.130 require personal service. The original version of NRS 233B.130(2) stated that "the petition shall be served upon the agency and all other parties of record." 1965 Nev. Stat., ch. 362, § 14 at 966. In 1989, the Legislature amended NRS 233B.130, moving the service requirement from NRS 233B.130(2) to NRS 233B.130(5). 1989 Nev. Stat., ch. 716, § 6 at 1652. The current form of NRS 233B.130(5) remains consistent with the 1989 amendment. While the 1989 amendment to NRS 233B.130(5) does not identify what form of service is required; in the very same legislative session,

the Legislature expressly required other kinds of documents to be served "in the manner prescribed for service of summons in a civil action or by certified mail, return receipt requested, with proof of actual receipt." 1989 Nev. Stat., ch. 425, § 7 at 1634.

The Legislature added additional clarification to the service requirements in NRS 233B.130 in 2015. 2015 Nev. Stat., ch. 160, § 9 at 709. Concerned by circumstances where the Attorney General and various state agencies only learned of a petition for judicial review after expiration of the time to respond to the petition, the Attorney General requested an amendment to the APA that would require a private party pursuing judicial review to serve the Attorney General *and* the head of the named agency. Assembly Committee on Government Affairs, 78th Leg. Sess., at 17, 21-22 (Feb. 13, 2015) (noting that the intent behind the amendment is to require service on both the agency and the Attorney General to ensure the Attorney General receives notice of the need to respond and identifying circumstances where the petition was *mailed* to the agency but not the Attorney General).<sup>3</sup>

While the Attorney General requested that the language of the statute mirror NRS 41.031(2), which addresses service of a summons and complaint against the State, there is no indication of an intention that NRCP 4(a)(6) control the method of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The minutes for this hearing can be found at <a href="https://www.leg.state.nv.us/Session/78th2015/Minutes/Assembly/GA/Final/144">https://www.leg.state.nv.us/Session/78th2015/Minutes/Assembly/GA/Final/144</a>. <a href="https://pdf">pdf</a> (last viewed on June 5, 2019).

service. *Id.* at 17. The Attorney General's concern was ensuring that the State receives adequate notice of a petition by requiring service on both the Attorney General and the relevant agency head. *Id.* at 17, 21-22.

In light of the foregoing, the legislative history on NRS 233B.130(2)(c) and NRS 233B.130(5) supports Appellant's reading of the statute. When the Legislature amended the service requirement under NRS 233B.130(5) in 1989, if it had intended to require the petition to be served in the same manner as a summons and complaint, it would have said so. And when the Legislature provided additional clarification on service requirements at the request of the Attorney General, the Legislature could have, but did not, indicate that such service is controlled by NRCP 4(a)(6). As a result, relevant legislative history suggests that this Court should default to rule for service of other pleadings and papers under NRCP 5(b).

## 3. Reason and public policy favor a more liberal standard for service.

Reason and public policy favor application of a more liberal standard for service unless the Legislature directs otherwise. Service of a summons and complaint is not logically analogous to service of a petition for judicial review. The policy for requiring personal service of a summons and complaint is obviously to ensure that a defendant actually receives notice of the need to defend against an action and to avoid entry of a default judgement. Once the defendant has received personal notice, however, the more liberal standard of NRCP 5(b) controls service

of other pleadings and papers. Because the filing of a petition for judicial review results in the continuation of existing legal proceedings of which the parties already have notice, service under NRCP 5(b) should suffice.

Here, having appeared at her administrative hearing with counsel, DeRosa was clearly already aware of this matter and was not required to be personally served in order to provide her "with notice of an action against [her] and to require [her] presence in court to defend the action." In fact, DeRosa's presence in this judicial review proceeding is not required. A respondent may allow judicial review to proceed without her appearance or defense, and need only file a statement of intent to participate in the judicial review if she desires to participate. *See* NRS 233B.130(3). If she doesn't participate or file a statement of intent to participate, there is no provision in NRS 233B providing that judgment by default will be rendered against her as it would for failure to appear and defend after being served with a summons. *See* NRCP 4(a)(1)(E); NRCP 55.

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