IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

STATE OF NEVADA, DEPARTMENT OF CO			Electronically Filed Aug 02 2019 04:19 p.m						
Арр	ellant,	Supreme Court Case	Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court						
v.		Dist. Court Case No.	18 OC 00150 1B						
PATRICIA DEROSA,									
Res	pondent.	/							

ANSWERING BRIEF OF RESPONDENT PATRICIA DEROSA

Thomas J. Donaldson
Nevada Bar No. 5283
Sue S. Matuska
Nevada Bar No. 6051
DYER LAWRENCE, LLP
2805 Mountain Street
Carson City, Nevada 89703
(775) 885-1896
tdonaldson@dyerlawrence.com
smatuska@dyerlawrence.com
Attorneys for Respondent

NRAP 26.1 DISCLOSURE

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The District Court applied the plain meaning of NRS 233B.130, the other sections of NRS chapter 233B and the Nevada Rules of Civil Procedure to find that a petition for judicial review must be personally served on the respondent and to dismiss NDOC's Petition for NDOC's failure to do so. The District Court's order was consistent with the plain meaning, the standard rules of statutory construction and the public policy that service of process is jurisdictional and not a mere

technicality. The District Court also appropriately exercised its discretion to determine that NDOC had not demonstrated good cause for its failure to personally serve the Employee within the forty-five (45) days required by NRS 233B.130(5). Therefore, the District Court correctly refused NDOC's request to be allowed to personally serve Employee more than one hundred and fifty-four (154) days after the filing of the petition for judicial review, an extension that would have more than tripled the time allotment set by statute.

ARGUMENT

I. Standard on Review

The District Court construed NRS 233B.130 and NRCP 4(d)(6) and 12(b)(4) to dismiss NDOC's Petition for insufficiency of service of process because it had not been served personally on Employee in a timely manner. JA 97. This court reviews a district court's statutory construction under a *de novo* standard of review. *Washoe County v. Otto*, 128 Nev. 424, 430-31, 282 P.3d 719, 724 (2012) (applying a *de novo* standard of review of a district court's dismissal of a petition for judicial review pursuant to NRCP 12); *see also Leven v. Frey*, 123 Nev. 399, 402, 168 P.3d 712, 714 (2007); *So. Nev. Homebuilders Ass'n v. Clark County*,121 Nev. 446, 449, 117 P.3d 171, 173 (2005).

111

II. As an Initial Pleading In a Civil Action, a Petition for Judicial Review Requires Personal Service

The question of law in this case is whether service of a petition for judicial review pursuant to NRS 233B.130 requires personal service on the respondent. Determination of this question requires a reading of NRS 233B.130, the other provisions of NRS chapter 233B and all applicable provisions of law.

A. The Plain Meaning of NRS 233B.130(5) Read Harmoniously with the Statutory Scheme Dictates Personal Service

Unambiguous statutory language is given its plain meaning. *Simmons Self-Storage v. Rib Roof,* Inc., 130 Nev. 540, 546, 331 P.3d 850, 854 (2014). Additionally, the Court interprets "provisions within a common statutory scheme 'harmoniously with one another in accordance with the general purpose of those statutes." *Id.* (quoting So. Nev. Homebuilder's Ass'n v. Clark County, 121 Nev. 446, 449, 117 P.3d 171, 173 (2005)). NRS 233B.130(5) unambiguously and plainly provides that a petition for judicial review must be served on all parties. NRS 233B.130 plainly does not provide for the method of service. Thus, examination of the full statutory scheme is necessary.

Chapter 233B of NRS provides "minimum procedural requirements for the .

. adjudication procedure of all [state] agencies . . . and for judicial review . . . "
thereof. NRS 233B.020. It "does not abrogate or limit additional requirements

imposed on such agencies by statute or otherwise recognized by law." *Id.* The first procedural step to obtain judicial review pursuant to chapter 233B is that petitions for judicial review "must be instituted by filing a petition in the district court." NRS 233B.130(2). Proceedings in the district courts are governed by the NRCP. Thus, the full statutory scheme includes these general provisions of NRS chapter 233B and the requirements of the NRCP for district court proceedings.

NRCP 1 states that "these rules govern the procedure in all civil actions and proceedings in the district courts, except as stated in Rule 81." Rule 81 only limits the applicability of the NRCP to special statutory proceedings where the applicable statute contains an inconsistent or conflicting procedure. (Emphasis added). Therefore, wherever NRS chapter 233B does not specify an inconsistent or conflicting procedure for judicial review in the district courts, the relevant NRCP governs. NRS chapter 233B does not specify the procedure or means of service of a petition for judicial review. Thus, the NRCP govern the appropriate method of service of a petition for judicial review.³

³ Additionally, when NRS chapter 233B was enacted, the NRCP had been in effect for some twelve (12) years. Order Adopting Rules of Civil Procedure, August 29, 1952. In providing for the judicial review petition to be filed as a civil action in the district courts, the Legislature must be presumed to have anticipated and intended that the procedural rules applicable in the district courts would apply, including those for the means of service. *City of Boulder v. General Sales Drivers*, 101 Nev. 117, 118-199, 694 P.2d 498, 500

Moreover, "petitions" are considered "complaints" for purposes of application of the NRCP. *See* NRCP 3, Advisory Committee Note ("[a]s used in these rules, 'complaint' includes a *petition* or other document that initiates a civil action.") (Emphasis added).⁴ NRCP 4(d)(6) specifies that for service of a complaint (petition) upon an individual defendant (respondent) in a civil matter, the method is delivery "to the [respondent] personally, or by leaving copies thereof at the [respondent]'s dwelling ... with some person of suitable age and discretion then residing therein." This is plain language that requires no interpretation, and because NRS chapter 233B does not specify the method of service, there is no "inconsistent or conflicting procedure" (*see* NRCP 81) and, thus, NRCP 4(d)(6)'s personal service requirement clearly governs.

///

///

///

^{(1985) (&}quot;Legislature is presumed to act with full knowledge of existing statutes related to the same subject.") (Emphasis added).

⁴ This Advisory Note was added with the 2019 amendments to the NRCP, which, by order of the Nevada Supreme Court, are effective "prospectively on March 1, 2019, as to all pending cases . . ." (Emphasis added). See ADKT 522, Order Amending the Rules of Civil Procedure, https://nvcourts.gov/Supreme/Rules/Amendments/Nevada_Rules_of_Appell ate Procedure/.

1. There is No "Legislative Omission" that the Court Would be "Filling-in" by a Finding that Personal Service on the Respondent is Required

NDOC acknowledges that NRS 233B.130 does not specify the method of service. However, NDOC's argument that this means the Court cannot conclude that personal service is required misses the mark. *See* NDOC's Opening brief ("NDOC brief") at 8-9. Without citation to any supporting authority, NDOC concludes that the absence of a directive for personal service "demonstrates that the APA does not require personal service of the petition." *Id.* at 9. NDOC argues that the lack of specification for personal service is an intentional legislative omission that the Court may not "fill-in." *Id.* However, NRS 233B.130 does not address the method of service at all. Therefore, there is also a lack of a specification for service by mail.

By NDOC's logic, the Court is also prohibited from agreeing with NDOC and determining that service by mail is appropriate because that it is also a "legislative omission" in NRS 233B.130. Indeed, if the Court were to apply NDOC's logic, it would be prohibited from determining the method of service at all because the Legislature did not explicitly state it in NRS 233B.130 or elsewhere in NRS chapter 233B. Clearly, the Court's hands are not so tied. To resolve this appeal, the Court is authorized and, indeed, charged with the responsibility to interpret NRS 233B.130

in harmony with other provisions of NRS chapter 233B and applicable court rules to determine the required method of service to initiate district court review of an administrative decision.

2. Rules of Statutory Construction Applicable when a Statute is Ambiguous Do Not Apply and Do Not Support Appellant's Position

Directly after arguing that there is a legislative omission in NRS 233B.130 as to the method of service, NDOC proceeds to cite the rule of statutory construction known as *expressio unius est exclusio alterius*. NDOC brief at 9. Briefly stated, this rule provides that "the expression of one thing is the exclusion of another." *Ramsey v. City of N. Las Vegas*, 133 Nev. ___, __, 392 P.3d 614, 619, (133 Nev. Adv. Op. 16, *7 (April 13,2017)). This rule would <u>not</u> apply to a case of legislative omission; this rule applies where a course of conduct or operation <u>is</u> provided. Therefore, this rule is not applicable to an interpretation of NRS 233B.130 because, in it, the Legislature has <u>not</u> expressed "one [method of service to] the exclusion of another." *See id.* Once again, NRS 233B.130 does not specify the method of service at all.

NDOC further argues that because in other statutes in other chapters of NRS, the Legislature has used the phrase "served in the same manner as a summons in a civil action," the omission of such a phrase in NRS 233B.130 necessarily means that

the Legislature intended to allow service by mail. NDOC brief at 10. To support this argument, NDOC points to NRS 34.080 and 34.280 which require writs of certiorari and writs of mandamus "to be served in the same manner as a summons in a civil action." Id. However, writs and judicial review of administrative decisions are not the same subject, and, even more to the point, NRS 34.080 and 34.280 do not address service of the *petition* or *application* for a writ (the vehicle which initiates the court proceedings on the subject). Rather, they address service of the writ that is issued by the court or judge to compel or prohibit a certain action. The writ issued by a court or judge compelling or prohibiting an action is completely distinguishable from a petition to initiate proceedings in district court. The Legislature's specification of service requirements for a writ does not shed any light on the Legislature's intent regarding service of a petition to initiate proceedings in district court, including a petition for judicial review under NRS chapter 233B.

Finally, the fact that, in NRS 233B.133(5), the Legislature specifically referenced NRAP 28 and directed that a memorandum of points and authorities in support of a petition for judicial review must comply with NRAP 28 is also of no relevance to the issue in this case. *See* NDOC brief at 11. Of course the Legislature had to direct, in statute, that NRAP 28 applied because the Rules of Appellate Procedure do not normally apply to proceedings in district court. By contrast, and as

discussed above, the NRCP are fully applicable to district court proceedings, including proceedings for judicial review pursuant to chapter 233B of NRS when there is no conflicting or inconsistent procedure specified therein. *See* NRCP 1 & 81. Therefore, there was no need for the Legislature to specifically reference NRCP 4 to make it applicable to service of petitions for judicial review filed pursuant to NRS chapter 233B. On all of its attempts to apply rules of statutory construction to support its case, NDOC's logic is patently flawed.

B. There is no Relevant Legislative History Much Less Legislative History that Supports Appellant's Position

Similar to its flawed application of rules of statutory construction, NDOC's fabrication of relevant legislative history is, at best, ineffective, and, at worst, false and misleading. NDOC directs the Court's attention to what it describes as legislative history relevant to the method of service required for petitions for judicial review. NDOC brief at 11-13. NDOC quotes the original language of NRS 233B.130 from 1965 regarding service⁵ and, then, points out that a 1989 bill added a forty-five (45) day time limitation and moved this language from subsection 2 to subsection 5 of

⁵ "Copies of the petition shall be served upon the agency and all other parties of record." NRS 233B.130(2) (1965).

NRS 233B.130.6 Id. Then, NDOC plucks another bill (AB 758) from the other eight hundred and ninety (890) bills enacted in 1989 and points out that it contained language requiring that a certain "notice" had to be served "in the manner prescribed for service of summons in a civil action." *Id.* at 12.7 NDOC does not follow this observation with any conclusion or citation to authority, id., but seems to be arguing that because the Legislature included such language in a bill in the same legislative session in which it made minor tweaks to NRS 233B.130, it necessarily follows that the Legislature intended to allow service pursuant to NRS 233B.130 to be by mail. Once again, the failure of this argument is that there is nothing remotely similar about these two 1989 bills except that they both address service of some type of document. However, the other 1989 bill, AB 758, addressed service of a "notice" to be issued by an executive branch employee to a delinquent parent to notify him or her of financial responsibility for a child who has become a recipient of public assistance.

⁶ "The petition for judicial review and any cross-petitions for judicial review must be served upon the agency and every party within 45 days after the filing of the petition." NRS 233B.130(5), as amended by AB 884 (1989 Nev. Stat., ch. 716 at p. 1652).

⁷ The citation provided for the bill referenced by NDOC was 1989 Nev. Stat., ch. 425, § 7 at 1634. NDOC brief at 12. However, chapter 425 from Statutes of Nevada 1989 does not contain a § 7, nor is it located near page 1634. The chapter that begins at page 1634 contains a § 7 with the language NDOC quoted and Respondent believes this is the chapter NDOC intended to reference. Its full citation is: 1989 Nev. Stat., ch. 711, § 7 at 1634.

See 1989 Nev. Stat., ch. 711 at 1634, codified at NRS 425.3822. Clearly, such a notice, which does not initiate proceedings in district court or have anything to do with district court, has no relation whatsoever to a petition invoking the jurisdiction of the district courts to review an administrative decision pursuant to NRS chapter 233B. Specification, in statute, for how such a "notice" was to be served was necessary because the NRCP requirements on service would not otherwise be applicable. It, thus, provides no relevant comparison to the Legislature's drafting choices or insight into the Legislature's intent for service of a petition for judicial review pursuant to NRS 233B.130.

In a final desperate attempt to provide legislative history, NDOC refers to a 2015 amendment to subsection 2 of NRS 233B.130 by A.B. 53 (2015). This amendment addressed service, but only to require that, for service on an agency to be effective, it must also be on the Attorney General's office. However, once again, the amendment did **not** address the method of service, only the party or entity to be served. Thus, this bill does **not** support the conclusion NDOC urges. Indeed, as NDOC acknowledges, when testifying in support of A.B. 53, the Attorney General's "concern was ensuring that the State receives adequate notice of a petition by requiring service on both the Attorney General and the relevant agency head." *See* NDOC brief at 13. Furthermore, NDOC acknowledges that the Attorney General's

testimony "requested that the language of the statute mirror NRS 41.031(2) which addresses service of a summons and complaint." *Id.* at 12. It would be ludicrous to interpret this change as an indication of the Legislature's desire for less stringent requirements, such as service only on the respondent's attorney or service merely by mail. If this bill supports any conclusion related to this case, it is that the Legislature intends the service requirement for petitions for judicial review to be stringent in order to ensure adequate notice to all parties.

III. Reason and Public Policy Support a Requirement for Personal Service on the Respondent

After acknowledging the importance of personal notice for the initiation of proceedings in district court, NDOC, summarily and without citation to legal authority, concludes that the filing of a petition for judicial review is merely the "continuation of existing legal proceedings of which the parties already have notice" and thus does not require the same personal service. NDOC brief at 14. Of course, this is not the case. A petition for judicial review initiates the proceeding in district court which will review an administrative agency's decision. There are no pleadings filed in district court which precede the petition for judicial review. It is the petition for judicial review that receives the district court's case number which will be affixed to all subsequent pleadings. Of course, all of the foregoing is the same for a

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